Minutes of the Meeting of Management Committee of
The Interstate Insurance Product Regulation Commission (IIPRC)
Monday, October 27, 2008

Management Committee Members in attendance:

Tonya Gillespie as a designated representative for Commissioner Jane Cline, Chair, West Virginia
Director Mary Jo Hudson, Vice Chair, Ohio

Commissioner Sean Dilweg, Treasurer, Wisconsin

Margaret Witten as a designated representative for Commissioner John Oxendine, Georgia
Joseph Murphy as a designated representative for Commissioner Nonnie Burnes, Massachusetts
Joan Moiles as a designated representative for Commissioner Ken Ross, Michigan
Commissioner Jim Long, North Carolina

Commissioner Kim Holland, Oklahoma

Brad Harker as a designated representative for Commissioner Joel Ario, Pennsylvania

Sara Waitt as a designated representative for Commissioner Mike Geeslin, Texas
Commissioner Paulette Thabault, Vermont

Jackie Cunningham as a designated representative for Commissioner Al Gross, Virginia

Commissioner Members in attendance:
Shelley Santo, Hawaii

Commissioner Sandy Praeger, Kansas
Commissioner Sharon Clark, Kentucky
Commissioner Glenn Wilson, Minnesota
Director Ann Frohman, Nebraska
Superintendent Joseph Torti 111, Rhode Island
Commissioner Leslie Newman, Tennessee

Regulator Staff in attendance:
Brian Pennington, Minnesota
Marlyn Burch, Kansas

Betsy Jerome, Utah

Herb Olsen, Vermont

Ted Hamby, North Carolina
Shawn Hawk, Tennessee
Beth Dwyer, Rhode Island
Ron Henderson, Louisiana
Kathie Stepp, Oklahoma
John Rink, Nebraska
Ramona Goodwin, Utah

Legislative Committee Members in attendance:
Mike Humphries, NCOIL

Industry Advisory Committee Members in attendance:
Michael Gerber, NAIFA

Dennis Herchel, Massachusetts Mutual

Cande Olsen, Actuarial Resources Corporation

ITPRC Team Members in attendance:
Frances Arricale, Executive Director
Sara Bamford, Operations Manager



Karyn Onyeneho, Administrative Assistant
Charles Rapacciuolo, Development Consultant
David Morris, Product Review Consultant
Alice Fontaine, Actuarial Consultant

NAIC Staff:
Becky McElduff, Senior Counsel

Director Mary Jo Hudson, Ohio, called the meeting of the Interstate Insurance Product Regulation
Commission (IIPRC) Management Committee to order and asked for a Roll Call. Director Hudson also
asked that the Legislative Committee, Consumer Advisory Committee and Industry Advisory Committee
members present identify themselves for the record.

Director Hudson addressed the first item on the Agenda, a Public Hearing on Uniform Standards which
were issued on August 1, 2008 and August 27, 2008. Director Hudson commented that these standards
include: the Individual Annuity Application Standards, Individual Annuity Application Change Form,
Additional Standards for Bonus Benefits (for Individual Deferred Non-Variable Annuities), Amendment
to Individual Life Application Standards, Amendment to Standards for Individual Life Application
Change Form, and Amendment to Deferred Non-Variable Annuity Contract Standards. Director Hudson
stated that written comments for these Standards were received from the Industry Advisory Committee
and from the Life Insurance Settlement Association (LISA). Director Hudson asked if there were any
comments from the Members of the Management Committee; Commission; Legislative Committee; and
Consumer Advisory Committee.

Director Hudson asked Cande Olsen, from Actuarial Resources Corporation, on behalf of the ACLI a
member of the Industry Advisory Committee, to review the substantive comments that were submitted by
the Industry Advisory Committee. Ms. Olsen commented on the Additional Standards for Bonus Benefits
(for Individual Deferred Non-Variable Annuities) with the regard to the recommendations for the
guidance for completing Appendices A-1 and A-2 are substantive. Ms. Olsen remarked that there should
be a sentence added to the Drafting Note on page 5 that clarifies the fact that these standards will apply to
premium policies with premium based surrender charges. Ms. Olsen commented that the surrender
charges contained in Appendices A-1 and A-2 of the Amendment to Deferred Non-Variable Annuity
Contract Standards are mentioned in the guidelines of the Standards and this is not appropriate since these
guidelines exist for the purpose of demonstrating compliance. Ms. Olsen stated that with regard to the
Application, all of the comments are non-substantive and that instead of the phrase “standards do not
apply”, this should say that “separate standards will be created for the other items” as to eliminate any
confusion. Ms. Olsen affirmed that the Industry Advisory Committee comments that have been provided
are mostly in the nature of clarification.

Becky McElduff, NAIC Senior Counsel, agreed with Ms. Olsen and stated that her comments are non-
substantive. Ms. McElduff stated that she consulted with Alice Fontaine, IIPRC Actuarial Consultant,
and referenced that she is in agreeance with this. Ms. Fontaine agreed with Ms. McElduff and affirmed
that the comments from Ms. Olsen are non-substantive.

Director Hudson thanked Ms. Olsen for her comments and called on Doug Head, Executive Director of
the Life Insurance Settlement Association (LISA). Mr. Head submitted comments in reference to the
Amendment to Individual Life Insurance Application Standards. Mr. Head explained that his concerns
were largely in reference to the amendment referenced on the front page of the Standard. Mr. Head noted
that with regard to the proposed change, page nine (9) states that an application “may”, not “shall”,
include language similar to language which previously advised applicants that as a general practice in all
states, laws may prohibit the owner from entering into an agreement to sell, exchange or settle a life



insurance policy for two (2) years after the date of issue. Mr. Head stated further that there are four (4)
states that have passed laws that alter this provision under certain conditions in which a policy may not be
sold within the two (2) year contest period or for a period thereafter for various criteria. Mr. Head
suggested that consumers may be confused as to what their rights are and that if it is said to consumers
that they may not be able to have a transfer or assignment of a policy for a period of time specified by
state law, then at a minimum there should be discussions during the Standard development process for the
Individual Life Application which contain provisions that clearly recognize the clarity of such rights and
any effects that may result. Mr. Head stated that page nine (9) contains a substantive issue and wants to
know how such provisions can be implemented. Mr. Head stated that the Amendment to Individual Life
Application Standards should not be approved at this time and that he would like to engage in further
understanding of the implications of this provision and what it may mean in each state in terms of
interpretation as applicable to an application.

Malinda Shepherd, Kentucky, commented that when a life insurance policy is sold, the state in which the
product is sold always has jurisdiction over the contract regardless of where the consumer moves; thus
allowing the state insurance department of the state of domicile to handle any issues or complaints from
the consumer.

Mr. Head noted that in recent laws, the reference to the “seller” describe this person as a resident of the
state selling a policy and that this causes jurisdictional confusion. Mr. Head stated that it is for this
reason that he is concerned about the language within the Life Application Standards. Mr. Head stated
that the he is baffled about how the provision would be entered into an application and interpreted by
each state.

Ms. Shepherd stated that the Amendment is meant to be useful to all Compact states which have diversity
during their inner holding period and that this is not about rejection or acceptance of the provision.

Mr. Head stated that this may be useful information, but that it is not clear under what circumstances that
a prohibition on the sale or assignment of a policy would apply. Mr. Head stated that in regards to the
Amendment, that clarity must be interpreted in other ways not just in a blanketed fashion on the
prohibition on sale beyond two years as most of the Compact states have not adopted such a provision.
Mr. Head stated that some states prohibit a transfer under certain conditions before five (5) years but after
two (2) years and that it is unclear as to whether the consumer is getting accurate information and in
knowing which jurisdiction is applicable with respect to state law.

Director Hudson asked if there were any other comments. Commissioner Sean Dilweg, Wisconsin, stated
that the Compact is not an enforcement mechanism as this is left up to the Commissioner, Superintendent
or Attorney General of every state department of insurance. Commissioner Dilweg stated that he
understands the sensitivity in the comments made by Mr. Head but that he does not share his concerns.

Director Hudson asked if there were any other comments on the Standards. Hearing none, Director
Hudson concluded the Public Hearing and moved to the next item on the Agenda, to consider the
approval of the Uniform Standards from the Public Hearing.

Director Hudson stated that the Management Committee will consider the Uniform Standards from the
Public Hearing for approval. Director Hudson noted that the written comments received for these
Uniform Standards have been posted to the [IPRC web site. Director Hudson suggested that the approval
of all six (6) proposed Standards and Amendments be taken up as one (1) vote.

Director Hudson asked for a motion from a Member of the Management Committee to approve the
proposed Uniform Standards. Commissioner Dilweg made the motion and Commissioner Paulette



Thabault, Vermont, seconded the motion. Director Hudson asked Frances Arricale, IIPRC Executive
Director, to conduct the Roll Call vote. The Uniform Standards were approved by a unanimous voice
vote.

Director Hudson thanked the Product Standards Committee and for everyone who worked on the
Standards and for the comments received on the Standards. Director Hudson then turned to the next item
on the Agenda, the review and consideration of the Communications Committee Memo on IIPRC
Outreach/Marketing Strategy Considerations.

Director Hudson stated that this Memo was distributed during the IIPRC Annual Meeting on September
21, 2008 and was made available for review on the IIPRC web site. Director Hudson stated that the
Communications Committee had outlined considerations for the Management Committee in terms of two
(2) important goals for the IIPRC which include (1) having more states to join the Compact and (2) to
promote the use of the Compact for industry product filings.

Director Hudson asked Commissioner Kim Holland, Oklahoma, for a brief highlight of goals of the
Memo.

Commissioner Holland explained that the marketing and outreach strategies in the Memo point out the
involvement of two (2) key components. First, to increase Compact membership; and in doing so, by
assuring that there are Agenda items that address Compact goals during NAIC meetings together with the
use of national forms and the use of other forms that would allow Compact Members, or Ms. Arricale, to
address the importance and value of the Compact with direct dialogue from Commissioner-to-
Commissioner in supporting non-Compacting states to consider legislation to enact the Compact.
Commissioner Holland highlighted that working with the Legislative Committee on state outreach would
be a very important and helpful tool in getting the support of their fellow legislators. Commissioner
Holland also stated that the use of the web to increase awareness is another strategy that would help to
increase Compact membership. Commissioner Holland noted that promoting filings with the Industry is
necessary to promote the convenience and ease of filing; that this would include member outreach
sessions with domestics and with the Industry. Commissioner Holland also stated that webinar sessions
have already started and will continue in the outreach efforts to promote Compact Filings. Commissioner
Holland remarked that conducting Industry surveys is a way to get feedback as to how to improve and
facilitate filing efforts with the Compact. Commissioner Holland highlighted that these outreach efforts
can assist with ensuring that budget objectives may be met.

Director Hudson thanked Commissioner Holland for her leadership in putting the outreach efforts
together and asked if there were any comments from Commission Members; Legislative Committee
Members; Consumer Advisory Committee Members; Industry Advisory Committee Members; and
Interested Parties. Hearing none, Director Hudson noted that it is critical to begin with such substantial
outreach efforts to ensure that that the Industry understands the Compact, as well as the states and the
legislators. Director Hudson suggested that Commissioner Holland can provide a regular report to the
Management Committee regarding the progress of the outreach efforts.

Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to approve the IIPRC Outreach/Marketing Strategy
Considerations. Commissioner Holland made the motion and Commission Dilweg seconded the motion.
Director Hudson asked Ms. Arricale to conduct the Roll Call vote. The IIPRC Outreach/Marketing
Strategy Considerations were approved by unanimous voice vote.

Director Hudson thanked Commissioner Holland and the Communications Committee for their work on
the outreach efforts to improve the Compact. Director Hudson then turned to the next item on the
Agenda, to consider the reappointments of the IIPRC Subcommittees. Director Hudson noted that a list



of the Subcommittee assignments were distributed at the [IPRC Annual Meeting which were based upon
the preferences provided by the Members. Director Hudson noted that there were more requests for the
Product Standards Committee than could be accommodated. Director Hudson explained that under the
Compact Bylaws, if there is a majority of Management Committee or Commission Members in a
meeting, then it is considered a Management Committee Meeting or Commission Meeting, respectively.

Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to approve the reappointments of the [IPRC Subcommittees.
Commissioner Dilweg made the motion and Commissioner Holland seconded the motion. Director
Hudson asked if there were any comments. Director Hudson asked Ms. Arricale to conduct the Roll Call
vote. The reappointments of the IIPRC Subcommittees were approved by a unanimous voice vote.
Director Hudson explained that the assignments of the Subcommittee members will start immediately.

Director Hudson turned to the next item on the Agenda, to consider the approval of prior Management
Committee Meeting Minutes. Director Hudson stated that there would be two (2) sets of Meeting
Minutes up for approval, a verbatim transcript of the Public Hearing of the Management Committee and
the minutes of the Management Committee meeting both from September 21, 2008. Director Hudson
acknowledged that the edits received from Don Beatty, Virginia, have been incorporated in the final
version before the Committee today. Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to approve the prior
Management Committee Meeting Minutes. Commission Dilweg made the motion and Commissioner
Holland seconded the motion. Director Hudson asked if there were any comments. Hearing none,
Director Hudson asked Ms. Arricale to conduct the Roll Call vote. The approval of the prior
Management Committee Meeting Minutes was approved by a unanimous voice vote.

Director Hudson turned to the next item on the Agenda and asked Ms. Arricale to provide an operational
update.

Ms. Arricale noted that the Budget adopted on September 21, 2008, during the IIPRC Annual Meeting,
contained a typographical error in the financing information on the summary page which has since been
corrected. Ms. Arricale stated that this did not affect anything that has been voted on in terms of the
Budget, but that this affected the loan amounts. Ms. Arricale stated that there was an error in the
calculation on the spreadsheet that will be corrected to reflect the loan amount as it is carried from 2008
to 2009 year. Ms. Arricale noted that the IIPRC is hosting webinar sessions twice a month which are
geared directly towards product filings which will allow companies and other interested parties to
understand how to create a Compact Product Filing. Ms. Arricale also noted that these webinar sessions
also provide an overview of the IIPRC and welcomed members to join and participate in these
informative webinar sessions. Ms. Arricale noted that there will be a new IIPRC web site which is
currently in production and will be unveiled in November. Ms. Arricale stated that the web site will
include targeted web pages which will contain helpful and useful information to Members of the
Commission and to the Industry that will be valuable on an everyday basis. Ms. Arricale highlighted that
the Compact is looking forward to more filings as more Uniform Standards are adopted and Industry
Product Filings are welcomed. Ms. Arricale stated that the IIPRC has the capacity to review more filings
and noted that the [IPRC anticipates continued outreach efforts to the Industry. Ms. Arricale highlighted
that there will be a meeting of the [IPRC on December 4, 2008 immediately preceding the NAIC
meetings and the agenda will be sent as the meeting approaches. Ms. Arricale also stated that there will
be a joint meeting of the NAIC National Standards Working Group and the Product Standards Committee
on December 4, 2008.

Commissioner Holland asked Ms. Arricale if she had any feedback about the Industry in terms of their
willingness to file.



Ms. Arricale stated that there have been more Annual Registration Fee Filings received from the Industry
since the [IPRC Annual Meeting in September. Ms. Arricale noted that she has had discussions with the
Industry during past IIPRC Outreach events and has encouraged the Industry to prepare portfolios based
on what can be filed at this time with the Compact.

Director Hudson stated that since issues surrounding the Public Access Rule have been resolved,
companies are beginning to recognize the potential of filing with the Compact. Director Hudson noted
that helping the Industry to understand how to get involved with the Compact and overcome any
challenges surrounding this is necessary; and can be suitable for the Communications Committee in
developing a survey which can also help the Product Standards Committee in prioritizing the Uniform
Standards.

Dennis Herchel, Massachusetts Mutual, stated that there are concerns that are apparent with “Mix and
Match” filings and that dialogue on how this can work; in addition to concerns with regard to the deadline
has been triggered under the current Appendix Standards. Mr. Herchel noted that this may discourage
companies from filing.

Director Hudson stated that the Industry Advisory Committee has provided feedback for “Mix and
Match” filings and that this will need to be taken up to make sure that everyone is on the same page.

Ms. Olsen stated that the ACLI will be sharing the “Mix and Match” filing issues for companies during
the December 4, 2008 Winter National Meetings and that such dialogue will be helpful.

Ms. Arricale stated that the state of New Jersey has had a hearing on Compact legislation within the
Assembly to consider passing legislation.

Director Hudson noted that there will be a full Commission Meeting on October 29, 2008 and
information related to this meeting will be posted to the IIPRC web site.

Director Hudson asked if there were any other comments or questions. Hearing no other
comments, Director Hudson asked if there was a motion to adjourn. Commission Dilweg made
the motion and Commissioner Holland seconded the motion. The meeting was adjourned by a
unanimous voice vote.




<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


